1970

# Thomas R. Broadbent v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by an insured against his professional liability insurance carrier for the recovery of the prescribed policy limits together with damages.

### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The District Court of Salt Lake County granted defendant's motion for Summary Judgment and entered Judgment thereon. After hearing a motion to state the grounds upon which judgment was rendered, the Court entered an amended Judgment on September 11, 1970, from which judgment this appeal has been taken.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the Summary Judgment vacated and an order entered remanding this matter to the District Court for further proceedings, including trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about May 4, 1954, defendant issued to plaintiff a professional liability insurance policy wherein defendant promised to defend and pay up to \$50,000.00 on each liability claim made against plaintiff (see Exhibit "A" attached to Complaint). On or about May 10, 1954, plaintiff commenced medical treatment of one Adrienne H. Gyr which consisted of the attempted shrinkage of a tumor located in the cheek of the patient by means of the implantation of a radioactive substance known as Radon Seeds in the area of the tumor. (Broadbent Depo. pp. 10-11, hereinafter referred to only as "Depo.>"). The Radon Seeds were implanted by means of an operation which took place on or about June 30, 1954 (Depo. p. 12). Within a period of several weeks after the operation Gyr developed certain anticipated reactions to the radiation in the area of the treatment in the form of swelling, tenderness, redness and increased salivation. (Depo. p. 13). But for reasons unknown the degree of her reaction was greater than expected. These reactions manifested themselves in the form of certain bone and skin deteriorations both inside and outside of the mouth in the area where the seeds were implanted. (Depo. pp. 13, 14, 20, 22, 25). Gyr remained a patient of Dr. Broadbent and received continual treatment voicing no complaint until June 9, 1967, when

her attorney informed the plaintiff that a claim was being made against him for malpractice. (Depo. pp. 48-49). Dr. Broadbent notified defendant of the claim the next day. (Depo. p. 49). On July 28, 1967, Gyr commenced an action against plaintiff. After investigating the facts, defendant defended that action under a reservation of rights, claiming that Dr. Broadbent had failed to give timely notice of the claim as required in his policy and the company was therefore absolved from liability to pay any judgment obtained against him. In that case Dr. Broadbent effected a settlement with Gyr and then called upon defendant to contribute its policy limits toward the settlement which defendant declined to do. Thereupon this action was commenced against the defendant for the purpose of recovering (1) the policy limits to be used toward the liquidation of the settlement figure and (2) the damages plaintiff suffered by reason of defendant's refusal to pay the policy limits at the time of settlement. Defendant answered denying the existence of any such policy and asserting that if such policy existed, plaintiff had failed to give the defendant prompt notice as required in the policy thereby breaching the terms of the policy and absolving the defendant from any contractual duty toward plaintiff. On motion of the defendant, the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, Stewart M. Hanson presiding, entered a Summary Judgment for defendant from which Judgment and amended order, plaintiff has appealed.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR SALT LAKE COUNTY, ERRED IN ENTERING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANT AND RESPONDENT UNITED STATES FIDELITY AND GUARANTY COMPANY.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### A. PLAINTIFF GAVE PROPER NOTICE ACCORDING TO THE PROVISIONS OF HIS POLICY.

The critical question in this case is whether plaintiff, Dr. Broadbent, rendered timely notice to the defendant of the injury to Mrs. Gyr. Before that question can be answered, however, one must first ascertain when the duty to report arose. In this regard the terms of the coverage and notice clauses in the policy are informative. With respect to coverage, defendant agrees in its policy:

To pay on behalf of the Insured all sums which the Insured shall become legally obligated to pay as damages because of injury arising out of *malpractice, error or mistake* in rendering or failing to render professional services in the practice of the Insured's profession described in the declarations, committed during the policy period by the Insured or by any person for whose acts or omissions the Insured is legally responsible except as a member of a partnership. (See Exhibit "A" attached to complaint; emphasis added).

The pertinent portion of the foregoing provision as far as this case is concerned is that coverage applies only to

"injuries" caused by "malpractice," "errors," or "mistakes."

With respect to notice, plaintiff's policy contained the following provisions:

Upon the Insured becoming aware of any alleged injury covered hereby, written notice shall be given by or on behalf of the Insured to the Company or any of its authorized agents as soon as practicable, together with the fullest information obtainable. . . .

. . . .

No action shall lie against the Company unless, as a condition precedent thereto, the Insured, shall have fully complied with all the terms of this policy. . . .

The notice provisions set forth above are fairly standardized and are found in virtually all liability contracts. The primary purpose of such provision is to allow the company to make a timely investigation of the facts:

The purpose of a policy provision requiring the insured to give the company prompt notice of an accident or claim, is to give the insurer an opportunity to make a timely and adequate investigation of all the circumstances. An adequate investigation often cannot be made where notice is long delayed, because of the possible removal or lapse of memory on the part of witnesses, the loss of opportunity for examination of the physical surroundings and making photographs thereof for use at trial and the possible operation of fraud, collusion, or cupidity. Such a requirement tends to protect the insurer against fraudulent claims, and also against invalid claims made in good faith. And further, if the insurer is thus given the opportu-

ity for a timely investigation, reasonable compromises and settlements may be made, thereby avoiding prolonged and unnecessary litigation. 8 Appleman, *Insurance Law and Practice*, §4731 at 2-3 (1962).

See also *Leach vs. Farmer's Auto Interins. Exch.*, 70 Idaho 156, 213 P.2d 920, 923 (1950). The notice provisions referred to above require the insured to give notice as soon as practicable after becoming aware of an injury. Such policy provisions usually require only that notice be given with reasonable dispatch in view of all the facts and circumstances of a particular case; notice need not be given instantaneously. See *Hartford Acc. & Indem. Co. vs. Day*, 359 F.2d 484, 486 (10th Cir. 1964); *Johnson Ready-Mix Concrete Co. vs. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, 11 U.2d 279, 358 P.2d 337, 338 (1961); 8 Appleman, *supra*. §4734, at 22.

Under the terms of the notice provision, plaintiff is to notify the company when he becomes "aware of any alleged injury covered hereby . . . ." The word "alleged" has been defined as being synonymous with the word "claimed." See *Williams vs. Hyman-Michaels Co.*, 277 S.W. 593, 595 (Mo. Ct. App. 1925). It has further been defined to mean "stated," "recited," "asserted," "charged," or "declared." See *State vs. Hostetter*, 222 S.W. 750, 754 (Mo. Sup. Ct. 1920); *Lynn vs. Nichols*, 122 Misc. Rep. 170, 202 N.Y.S. 401, 406 (1923). Taken within the context of the instant case, the word clearly implies some affirmative action on the part of a third party to verbally communicate a claim of injury to the insured.

The word "injured" has been defined to mean "damaged," "harmed," "impaired," or "hurt." See *Phelps Dodge Corp. vs. DeWitt*, 63 Ariz. 379, 162 P.2d 605, 607 (1945). This definition is of little value when applied to the medical profession because of the peculiarities of the profession. Physicians are daily involved in intentionally inflicting some kind of injury as a means of cure. Furthermore, aggravated reactions to normal corrective procedures are not uncommon. Such reactions are often completely unforeseeable, unanticipated, and result regardless of the use of proper medical procedures. It would appear that some distinction must be made between the injuries which are intentionally inflicted as a part of treatment and those injuries resulting from alleged negligence. The policy must refer to the latter since coverage extended only to "malpractice," "errors," and "mistakes" but, unfortunately, no specific definition of "injury" applicable to the medical profession is found in the policy. Based on the foregoing definitions and analysis of the terms of the notice and coverage clauses, it would appear Dr. Broadbent had the duty to render notice after his patient had made a claim to him for an injury which originated in some malpractice, mistake or error on his part. Only then was he under an obligation to give notice to his insurance carrier. The test as to when "an alleged injury covered hereby" is subjective; when should Dr. Broadbent as a reasonable physician under the circumstances, have known that "malpractice," "error" and "mistake" had occurred which would result in a claim.

Under the facts of this case, plaintiff met the duty which the policy imposed on him. Dr. Broadbent treated Mrs. Gyr for a period of thirteen years. During this time she made no complaints as to the treatment she was receiving. Mrs. Gyr experienced reactions greater in degree than was expected, but not different in nature. By no objective standard were the reactions occasioned by malpractice, error or mistake on the part of Dr. Broadbent. He first became aware of a complaint on June 9, 1967, when he was notified by Miss Gyr's attorney. Dr. Broadbent then gave notice to defendant the next day. Clearly, under the terms of the policy, plaintiff rendered proper notice as soon as practicable after learning of an alleged injury growing out of alleged malpractice, error or mistake. Plaintiff has, therefore, met the demands of his policy and rendered timely notice.

#### B. PLAINTIFF GAVE TIMELY NOTICE ACCORDING TO CASE LAW.

Not only do the terms of the policy sustain the timeliness of plaintiff's notice, but case law also establishes the propriety of plaintiff's action. The following cases indicate one need only give the insurer notice when the insured himself knows of a claim. As stated in *Williams vs. Cass-Crow Wing Co-op Assoc.*, 224 Minn. 275, 28 N.W. 2d 646, 650 (1947) the Minnesota Supreme Court stated as follows:

Obviously, rumor cannot be the basis of liability as a claim. There must be a claimant, and that person must either directly or through adequate agencies make such claim upon the one whom he thinks

or knows to be at fault. Obviously, it would have to be in the nature of a presentation for relief or compensation before it could be said to amount to a demand or claim.

Supporting the above view, the Arkansas Supreme Court stated as follows in *American Fid. & Cas. Co. vs. Northeast Ark. Bus Lines*, 201 Ark. 622, 146 S.W.2d 165, 166 (1941): "The general rule is that the insured is not required to give notice to the insurer until the insured, itself, has notice of a claim for damages." The most significant case in this area holding that notice need not be given to the insurer until actual notice is received by the insured is *Minnesota Farm Bureau Service Co. vs. American Cas. Co.*, 167 F. Supp. 315 (D. Minn. 1958), *rev'd on other grounds*, 270 F.2d 686 (8th Cir. 1959). In that case the residents surrounding plaintiff's plant made a complaint to plaintiff in the spring of 1954 with respect to fumes, vibrations and dust causing personal and property damage. On June 3, 1954, an attorney for those residents directed a letter to plaintiff requesting plaintiff to abate the alleged nuisances. On July 8, 1954, the residents commenced an action against plaintiff for damages and injunctive relief. On January 21, 1955, plaintiff's attorney tendered the defense of the case to defendant but defendant refused since it claimed notice had not been given to the company as soon as practicable as required by the policy. The residents prevailed in their action, plaintiff paid the judgment and brought this action against his insurance carrier for reimbursement. Under the facts of that case, the court held the notice timely. In reaching its decision it stated as follows:

The defendant contends that notice of claims required by the provisions of the policies and the notice given to it by the plaintiff were not timely. Under the terms of the policies of insurance, plaintiff was obligated to notify the defendant as soon as practicable after the accident or occurrence happened. *It was not under a duty to give notice until it was aware of the fact that some act or omission was the basis of a claim for relief against it.* With respect to this contention, it is necessary to determine first when the plaintiff became obligated to give notice. Until this is established, determination cannot be made as to whether notice was timely. The evidence shows that complaints were made by some of the residents in the area of plaintiff's plant in the early spring of 1954, but that it was not until June of 1954 that any claim was actually made by anyone against the plaintiff. *Plaintiff was not, therefore, under a duty to give notice to the defendant that claims had been made until June 1954, when it was first notified of the claims made in the state court. Minnesota Farm Bureau Service Co. vs. American Cas. Co., supra. at 318 (emphasis added).*

The reasoning of these cases is also found in *Sohm vs. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 352 F.2d 65 (6th Cir. 1965) involving a malpractice action. Under the facts of that case, Sohms, a physician, performed a hernia operation on a patient on August 10, 1962. Immediately after the operation the patient complained of pain in her leg and after consulting another physician, a separate exploratory operation was performed on October 1, 1962, which Dr. Sohms observed. During the exploratory operation Dr. Sohms acknowledged having made an improper suture into a nerve. Sohms made no claim upon his insurance

carrier until a claim was made on him for malpractice on March 9, 1963. Sohm then notified his company on March 11, 1963, whereupon defendant alleged breach of the policy and declined to defend the action. The language in Dr. Sohm's liability policy was identical to that found in the instant case and the question before the court was whether proper notice had been given. The court held that the duty to render notice arose when Dr. Sohm acknowledged his negligence by observing the improper suture on October 1, 1962. Until the error became clear, there was no reasonable basis to believe that the patient would register a claim. The holding in *Sohm* clearly stands for the proposition that once a physician is aware of an error which has caused injury, he then must file notice with his insurance carrier. The case also stands for the proposition that a doctor need not report an untoward consequence of a normal surgical procedure until that doctor has reason to believe the consequence was caused by some negligence on his part. At that time the doctor must file notice with his insurer regardless of whether the patient has made a claim.

The reasoning of the above cases is rooted in sound public policy, particularly with respect to physician's liability policies. Because of the unusual nature of a physician's business, where injuries are intentionally inflicted and untoward physical consequences occasionally arise caused by no negligence of the treating physician, the only reasonable test as to when notice must be given is when the doctor himself is notified of an injury arising out of alleged negligence. If such were not the standard, physi-

time when the injured party discovered that insurance existed and knew the identity of the insurer; what prejudice to the insurance company's defense has been caused by the delay; the good faith of the insured and injured parties; the existence of any special circumstances, especially those indicating fraud or collusion. *Jackson vs. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, *supra.* at 179.

For additional cases, see *Century Indem. Co. vs. Serafine*, 311 F.2d 676 (7th Cir. 1963); *Phoenix Indem. Co. vs. Anderson's Groves, Inc.*, 176 F.2d 246 (5th Cir. 1949); *Cooper vs. Government Employees Ins. Co.*, 51 N.J. 86, 237 A.2d 870 (1968); *Annot.* 18 A.L.R.2d 443, 472-74 (1951).

The Utah Supreme Court has endorsed by implication the foregoing rule in the case of *Johnson Ready-Mix Concrete Co. vs. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, 11 U.2d 279, 358 P.2d 337 (1961). In that case an employee of plaintiff was slightly injured in the back and made an oral report to his superior. His superior made no report of the accident until the injured employee filed a lawsuit against the plaintiff some three years late. Defendant refused to defend as liability carrier for plaintiff since the insured had not given notice of the accident as soon as practicable as required by the policy. This case was brought to recover the amount paid on the judgment recovered by the employee. The court held that the delay in notice was excusable stating that "[c]ommon sense dictates that it is quite impracticable to report every trivial occurrence . . . which might be described as an accident." *Johnson Ready-Mix Concrete Co. vs. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, *supra.* at 338. The

court also stated that the insured is "not obligated to give a notice until and unless it learned of an accident which would indicate to a reasonable and prudent person that it had resulted in some injury for which a claim might arise," *Johnson Ready-Mix vs. United Pac. Ins. Co., supra.*

With respect to the law set forth above relating to excused notice, the facts of the case at hand come within this recognized exception. If a reportable injury took place during the thirteen years of treatment, no claim thereof was made by the patient. The complications which ensued from the Radon Seed treatment presented possible extreme reactions to the treatment, but not injuries separate and distinct from what could have been expected. A different result might have been obtained had the Radon Seeds been placed in a portion of the patient's body other than where the tumor was located or if complications had arisen in an area not under treatment. Under those circumstances notice would likely not be excused. But under the facts of this case, Dr. Broadbent was treating an extreme reaction to a normal corrective operation for the tumor and had no information either professional or from his patient which would indicate he had done anything which would give rise to a claim for damages. To verify his treatment, plaintiff conferred with three other specialists to ascertain if additional corrective measures could be taken. (Depo. pp. 25-26, 39-40). Plaintiff also inquired of the company which manufactured the Radon Seeds and verified the proper dosage. (Depo. p. 58). Based on these facts plaintiff had no information which would lead a

reasonably prudent person to believe the aggravation would result in a possible claim; therefore, any delay in rendering notice is excused.

**D. LATE NOTICE, IF ANY, IS EXCUSED BECAUSE DEFENDANT WAS NOT PREJUDICED THEREBY.**

If plaintiff had a responsibility for giving notice prior to the time actual notice was given such failure is nevertheless excused since defendant has not been prejudiced. As noted previously, the purpose of the notice clause is to afford the insurer adequate opportunity to investigate the facts of the case to prepare a defense. There is a substantial line of authority which holds that lack of notice will not preclude recovery under the policy unless the insurer has been prejudiced by the delay in notice, even though the insured knew that a reportable injury had taken place. This position has been specifically adopted by the highest appellate courts in our sister states of California, Idaho, and Arizona. For example, in *Campbell vs. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 60 Cal.2d, 303, 384 P.2d 155 (1963) plaintiff obtained a default judgment against defendant's insured and then brought an action against defendant to collect on the judgment. Defendant defended on the basis (1) that its insured had breached the cooperation clause of the policy by not forwarding suit papers and other documents to the defendant as required by the policy, and (2) defendant had thereby been prejudiced by the delay. On appeal the court held that even though defendant's insured breached the cooperation clause defendant was nevertheless not absolved from liability because of lack of prejudice. With respect to prejudice resulting from the breach of the co-

operation and notice clauses in the insurance contract, the court stated:

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