1971

# Thomas R. Broadbent v. United St Ates Fidelity and Guaranty Company : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### PLAINTIFF DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE NOTICE PROVISIONS OF HIS PURPORTED POLICY OF INSURANCE.

Under the terms of the policy allegedly issued to plaintiff, he was required to give notice "as soon as practicable" to his liability insurance carrier upon "becoming aware of any alleged injury" covered by his policy. Counsel for the plaintiff apparently takes the position that plaintiff was the sole judge, both of whether he had committed any malpractice, mistake or error, and also whether there would probably be a claim arising therefrom. A similar contention was made by the insured in the case of *Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company vs. Lloyd*, 137 F.Supp. 7. In disposing of that argument the court said:

"He [insured] seeks here to require his insurer to defend what he claims to be a wholly unfounded action, and at the same time justifies his failure to notify his insurer on the ground that, in his opinion, any action against him would be without merit. He may not on the one hand require the defense provided for in the policy for an unfounded action and, at the same time, refuse to notify his insurance company on the ground

that it was unfounded. If the company is required to defend an unfounded action — which it is — it is equally entitled to the notice required in the policy regardless of its insured's own personal notions of what his legal liability was."

We agree wholeheartedly with the reasons for the notice provision as set forth in the quotation from 8 *Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice*, Section 4731, as quoted in appellant's brief, pages 5 and 6. Other authorities to the same effect are: 13 *Couch on Insurance* 2d, pages 634 and 635, Section 49:2, and page 659, Section 49:37; 18 ALR2d 443, at 447 and 451; *Oregon Farm Bureau Insurance Company vs. Safeco Insurance Company of America*, (Ore.), 438 P.2d 1018; *Arthur v. London Guarantee & Accident Company*, (Cal.App.), 177 P.2d 625.

What is notice as soon as practicable depends upon the facts of each particular case. There are innumerable cases in the annotation in 18 ALR 2d, cited and relied upon by plaintiff, wherein notices ranging from approximately 70 days up to three and one-half years have been held as a matter of law to be late and a breach of the notice provisions of the policy. We cite as illustrative, but by no means exhaustive: *Certified Indemnity Company vs. Thun*, (Col.), 439 P.2d 28 (73 days); *Johnson vs. Universal Underwriters*, (7th Cir.), 283 F.2d 316 (74 days); *Coolidge v. Standard Accident Insurance Company*, (Cal.App.), 300 P. 885 (three and one-half months); *Burbank v. National Casualty Company*, (Cal. App.), 59 P.2d 589 (91 days); *Hartford Accident &*

173

*Indemnity Company vs. Lloyd*, 137 F.Supp. 7 (8 months); *Oregon Farm Bureau Insurance Company vs. Safeco Insurance Company of America*, (Ore.), 438 P.2d 1018 (two years); *Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company vs. Lochmandy Buick Sales, Inc.*, (7th Cir.), 302 F.2d 565 (two years); *Boyer vs. American Casualty Company*, (2nd Cir.), 332 F.2d 709 (two years); and *Purefoy v. Pacific Automobile Indemnity Exchange*, (Cal.), 53 P.2d 155 (Three and one-half years).

Our research has disclosed only three cases involving the problem of late notice in a professional liability insurance policy. The first of these in *Sohm vs. U.S.F. & G. Company*, (6th Cir.), 352 F.2d 65. The case is cited in appellant's brief at page ten. In that case, the doctor performed an operation in August of 1962. He observed a second operation performed on his patient in October of 1962. At that time, he became aware and admitted that he had placed a suture in the patient's femoral nerve and thus caused injury of which the patient complained. However, he did not notify his insurer until March 11, 1963, two days after receiving notice from his patient's attorney. It was held as a matter of law that he did not give notice as soon as practicable and that the insurer was not liable for the amount of the recovery against him. Said the court:

"In the present case, although Mrs. Wilson complained of pain to the appellant the day following the first operation on August 10, 1962, and continued to complain of pain until September 12, 1962, no action was taken by appellant to notify

the appellee. At this point it might be understandable that some doubt would exist in the appellant's mind as to the cause of injury. However, this doubt was, or should have been, completely removed on October 1, 1962, when appellant observed the second operation by Dr. Saunders, readily admitted that he placed the suture through the edge of the femoral nerve, and this caused the injury of which Mrs. Wilson complained. Further, appellant admits he knew Mrs. Wilson had a right to bring a lawsuit against him. No action was taken by appellant to give notice to the appellee until March 11, 1963, two days after receiving a letter from Mrs. Wilson's attorney. The court is unable to find any circumstances beyond the control of appellant which would excuse appellant from giving the required notice 'as soon as practicable.'

\* \* \*

"As stated previously, the court is of the opinion *that when the appellant knew on October 1, 1962, that he caused the injury of which Mrs. Wilson complained, and at that time also knew she had a right to bring a lawsuit, he was aware of an alleged injury covered under his liability policy. This provision does not mean that the appellant could wait until he was sued.*

"It is the finding of the court that the delay on the part of the appellant, in absence of circumstances beyond his control, in complying with the terms of the policy to furnish written notice to the appellee 'as soon as practicable' was a breach of the policy provisions requiring such written notice to be furnished. . . ." (Emphasis ours.)

The second case is *Bergh vs. Canadian Universal Insurance Company*, (Fla.App.), 197 So.2d 847. In that

case, the doctor performed a surgical procedure on his patient in January 1964, which was followed by complications. A second procedure was done in June of 1964, also followed by substantial complications. On October 26, 1964, the patient's attorney wrote the doctor a demand letter. However, the doctor did not report the incident to his insurance company until April 1, 1965, after suit had been commenced. Said the court:

"Failure to give notice as soon as practicable has been held to be a material breach of an insurance policy in this state in numerous reported cases. . . .

"In the case at bar, the claim as to which insurance coverage is contested involves alleged medical malpractice. *The patient contends that she had suffered substantial damages, the severity of which dictated the need for early and thorough investigation concerning the cause and extent thereof.* Under the circumstances appearing in this case, the appellant has not made it appear that the able trial judge erroneously held that the insured had not given notice of the accident as soon as practicable in conformance with the policy requirements." (Emphasis ours.)

The third case is *Falk vs. Sul America Terrestres Maritimos E. Accidentes Companhia De Seguros*, (Ore.), 465 P.2d 714. In that case, the doctor learned of the apparent existence of an injury and of the potential existence of a claim some two years before a malpractice action was filed against him. However, he did not report the matter to his insurance carrier until after suit was filed. The trial court held that he had sufficient

knowledge to cause him to believe that a potential claim existed and which required that he notify his insurer of the facts of which he was aware, and that he breached the notice provision of his policy. The Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of the court below.

In no case cited by the plaintiff has a delay of notice of more than about three years been held to comply with the policy requirement of a notice "as soon as practicable" or equivalent language. It appears to us that earlier decisions of this court are fully determinative of the issues here and compel an affirmance of the judgment below.

In *Amundson vs. Mutual Benefit Health and Accident Association*, 13 Utah 2d 407, 375 P.2d 463, defendant's policy required notice to be given as soon as reasonably possible. Notice was not given until after a lapse of 32 years. This court there adopted the six year statute of limitations on actions on written instruments as the very maximum limit of time that could be held to comply with a policy provision requiring notice as soon as reasonably possible. This court there said:

*"... In this case the insurer pleads inability to determine even the fact whether it issued the policy under which plaintiff makes her claim. In addition, witnesses may have died, memories have faded and the claim has grown stale indeed. The extended lapse of time has materially increased the risk of the insurer to a degree clearly not contemplated by the provision for notice and proof of loss as soon as 'reasonably possible.' ...*



“To favor certainty rather than uncertainty in the determination of the period of time after which prejudice to the insurer demands the claim be barred, and in view of the fact the legislature has seen fit to bar claims based upon written contract after six years has elapsed, *we shall adopt this period, and hold that as applied to this particular policy, proof of loss should have been filed within six years after the loss. . . .*” (Emphasis ours.)

Although the policy in question requires notice “as soon as practicable,” rather than “as soon as reasonably possible,” the meaning of the two phrases is essentially the same, and the same result should follow.

See also *Dunn vs. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, (Utah), 110 P.2d 561, where a policy required notice within twenty days and a notice given after six months was held as a matter of law to be a failure of compliance and to bar recovery on the policy.

In *Anderson vs. Beneficial Fire and Casualty Company*, 21 Utah 2d 173, 442 P.2d 933, this court inferred by way of dictum that failure to give a written notice within sixty days as required by the policy would be justification for the insurer to deny coverage.

## POINT II

### LATE NOTICE IS NOT EXCUSED.

#### A. THIS WAS NOT A TRIVIAL OCCURRENCE.

Plaintiff seeks to justify his belated notice under the doctrine of trivial occurrence, as illustrated in the case of *Johnson Ready-Mix Concrete Company vs.*

*United Pacific Insurance Company*, 11 U.2d 279, 358 P.2d 337. The doctrine of that case has no application here. That involved an incident where, at the time of the accident, the injury to the claimant was apparently trivial in nature, and not the type of thing likely to give rise to a claim or suit. The facts of this case are not of that category. From the outset, the patient experienced problems far in excess of those anticipated. By January of 1957, it was clear to plaintiff that his patient was going to lose all or a part of her mandible and many of her teeth. She also required extensive dental care. It would take a callous individual indeed to say that the loss of a jawbone to a female patient is a trivial occurrence. As said in *Century Indemnity Company vs. Serafine*, 311 F.2d 676, at 680:

“It was Mr. Serafine’s duty to report to Century any occurrence which a reasonably prudent man would have had reason to believe was covered by the provisions of the policy and upon which a claim could reasonably be urged. *Hoffman & Klemperer Co. v. Ocean Accident and Guarantee Corporation Ltd.*, 7 Cir., 1961, 292 F.2d 324; Cf. *Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. Lochmandy Buick Sales, Inc.*, 7 Cir., 1962, 302 F.2d 565. . . .”

B. THE DOCTRINE OF TRIVIAL OCCURRENCE  
COULD NOT IN ANY EVENT EXTEND THE NOTICE TIME  
BEYOND THE PERIOD OF LIMITATIONS ON AN ACTION  
FOR WRITTEN CONTRACT.

It does not appear to us that there is any conflict between the holdings of this court in *Johnson Ready-Mix*

*Concrete Company v. United Pacific Insurance Company*, supra, and *Amundson vs. Mutual Benefit Health and Accident Association*, supra. In the latter case, this court circumscribed the limits beyond which notice could not go, that is the period of limitations for action on a written contract, which is six years. No later than January 1957, plaintiff was aware that his patient was in serious difficulty, would certainly sustain a serious loss, and that it might very well have resulted from his miscalculation of the dosage. At the very latest, notice should have been given to his liability carrier at that time. In fact, notice was deferred more than ten years thereafter and not given until June 1967, after an attorney had intervened.

### POINT III

#### DEFENDANT IS NOT OBLIGATED TO ESTABLISH PREJUDICE TO ITSELF BY REASON OF LATE NOTICE.

While there are cases that support plaintiff's contention that an insurer must show prejudice in order to defeat recovery on the grounds of late notice, the great weight of authority and the better reasoned decisions hold to the contrary. Particularly is this true where, as here, the provisions of the policy make compliance with the notice requirement a condition precedent to suit on the policy.

One of the leading and most oft quoted cases on this subject is *State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance*

*Company vs. Cassinelli*, (Nev.), 216 P.2d 606, 18 ALR2d 431. The Nevada court there said:

“We may say frankly that upon our first reading of the briefs prior to argument and at the conclusion of the argument, we were strongly impressed with the cases presented to the effect that right of recovery under the policy would not be barred by failure to give timely notice, unless the insurer had been prejudiced by such failure. The arguments in favor of such rule seemed plausible and the rule itself appeared neither unfair nor inequitable, especially if it were coupled with the rule adopted in some jurisdictions that prejudice would be presumed and that burden of proof be upon the insured to overcome such presumption by a proper showing. As we have seen however, a careful consideration of the cases shows that in no case so holding did the policy contain a clause to the effect that the compliance with the requirements for notice was a condition precedent to recovery. It would be presumptuous on our part to establish a rule of law in this state which departs from the overwhelming majority of decisions throughout the United States.”

The court also quoted from 76 ALR 183 as follows:

“‘In insurance of this character it is a matter of the first importance to the insurer, who may be forced to become the real defendant in a law suit against the insured, . . . to be speedily informed of all the facts and witnesses concerning a possible litigation. In a very little time the facts may in a great measure fade out of memory, or become distorted, witnesses may go beyond reach, physical conditions may change, and, more dangerous than all, fraud and cupidity may have

had opportunity to perfect their work. Therefore, this stipulation is vital to the contract.’”

Following the report of that case in 18 ALR 2d is an annotation commencing at page 443. At page 449 of the annotation, it is said:

“... Generally speaking it has been held that an insurer need not show that its rights had been prejudiced by the insured’s delay in giving notice or in forwarding the suit papers where the liability policy made the requirement as to notice and forwarding suit papers expressly a condition precedent to any liability on the part of the insurer.”

and at page 452 of the same annotation, it is said:

“It appears to be well settled that if a liability policy expressly makes the insured’s failure to give timely notice a ground of forfeiture, or compliance a condition precedent to liability, no recovery can be had where timely notice has not been given. . . .”

and at page 480 in the same annotation, it is said:

“The general rule to the effect that the insurer need not show that its rights had been prejudiced by the insured’s delay in giving notice or in forwarding the suit papers has been said to apply particularly in those cases in which the liability policy contained a provision making compliance with the requirement as to notice in forwarding suit papers expressly a condition precedent to any liability on the part of the insurer.”

See also the previously cited case of *Sohm v. U.S.F. & G. Company*, 352 F.2d 65:

“... The inquiry into whether the appellee was prejudiced by the delay is irrelevant ‘for if the giving of notice was a condition precedent to the right of recovery, the failure to give it prevented any liability from attaching.’ *Phoenix Cotton Oil Co. vs. Royal Indemnity Co.*, supra.”

For other authorities to the same effect, see: *Couch on Insurance* 2nd, Sections 49:50 and 49:338; *Hoffman vs. Employer's Liability Assurance Corporation*, (Ore.), 29 P.2d 557 followed in the recent case of *Bonney v. Jones*, (Ore.), 439 P.2d 881; *Sears, Roebuck & Company v. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company*, (Wash.), 313 P.2d 347. We also invite attention to a line of cases represented by *Artukovich vs. St. Paul-Mercury Indemnity Company*, (Cal.), 310 P.2d 461, and holding that prejudice is presumed from late notice.

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